# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/22/2020 4:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98450-6

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

-----

No. 79152-4-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNIFER L. HABU and RICHARD Y. CHINN, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

CONRAD A. TOPACIO, individually, et al.,

Defendants/Respondents.

#### RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### CORR CRONIN LLP

Blake Marks-Dias, WSBA No. 28169 Kelly H. Sheridan, WSBA No. 44746 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3900 Seattle, Washington 98154-1051 Tel: (206) 625-8600

Email: bmarksdias@corrcronin.com ksheridan@corrcronin.com Attorneys for Petitioners

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petitioners respectfully request that the Court grant review of the following issue:

Is a written settlement agreement negotiated by counsel and personally signed by all parties pursuant to CR 2A binding and enforceable upon all parties, where the agreement sets forth all material terms of the parties' agreement, notwithstanding the fact that it contemplates the subsequent execution of a long-form settlement agreement or that it sets forth the parties' agreement to negotiate on certain additional terms?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dispute arises out of the 2014 purchase and sale of a piece of commercial real estate previously owned by Appellants Jennifer Habu and Richard Chinn. Among other things, Appellants alleged that Petitioners Conrad Topacio, Hank Jacky, and Jim Koory defrauded them in connection with Appellants' 2014 sale of a commercial property in Everett, Washington by hiding the fact that Mr. Jacky and Mr. Koory were involved with Mr. Topacio, who was Appellants' real estate broker, thereby causing Appellants to accept less than the fair market value for the property. *See generally* CP 79-169.

In an attempt to amicably resolve the dispute, the parties engaged in a two-day mediation with retired King County Superior Court Judge Paris Kallas on February 21 and 22 of 2018. CP 658. The negotiations took an extraordinary amount of work by the parties, their attorneys, and Judge Kallas, who collectively spent nearly 24 hours working to secure a finalized deal. After thorough and exhaustive deliberations, the parties memorialized the terms of their settlement in a formal "CR 2A Term Sheet" (the "CR 2A Agreement"). CP 662-65. The CR 2A Agreement was drafted by Appellants' counsel with the understanding that it reflected the key terms and conditions that the parties agreed upon to effectuate their compromise. CP 658, 667-71. The key terms of that compromise are as follows:

- Petitioners will make an initial settlement payment totaling \$200,000 to Appellants;
- Upon receipt of that initial settlement payment, Appellants will dismiss all of their claims with prejudice, other than their claims under the Model Toxics Control Act, RCW 70.105D *et seq.* ("MTCA");
- Petitioners and Appellants will then work to market and sell the subject property. Appellants will have direct access to Petitioners' real estate broker, will exercise control over the sale negotiations, and will have the ability to approve "all purchase and sale terms";
- Upon sale of the property, Appellants will receive the first \$350,000 of the net sale proceeds after satisfaction of the outstanding debt on the property;
- The remainder of the net sale proceeds, if any, will be disbursed to Petitioners; and
- If the parties are not successful in selling the property after two years, the agreement will effectively terminate and the parties will be free to litigate their respective MTCA claims (all other claims having been dismissed following the initial \$200,000 settlement payment).

#### CP 662-65.

The CR 2A Agreement provides that the parties will "agree to memorialize and use their best efforts to fully execute a final Settlement Agreement within thirty (30) days of the mediation." CP 662. The CR 2A Agreement also sets forth the parties' agreement to negotiate on certain additional terms, including "a reasonable, mutual nondisparagement provision as part of the Settlement Agreement," and provides that in the event a dispute arises regarding the terms of the final settlement agreement, "the parties agree to return to mediation with Judge Kallas to make a good

faith effort to mediate and resolve those disagreements or disputes." CP 664.

When it appeared that the parties would be able to reach a deal on the evening of the second day of mediation, Appellants' counsel prepared and circulated a draft of the CR 2A Agreement to Judge Kallas and counsel for Petitioners. CP 667-71. After additional negotiations, Appellants personally signed the CR 2A Agreement on February 22, 2018 in the presence of their attorney. CP 664. With the exception of the specific amount of the post-sale payment (which was negotiated from \$375,000 to \$350,000), the framework set forth above remained constant through the parties' final agreement and the provision describing the nature of Petitioners' post-sale payment was carried over verbatim into the signed CR 2A Agreement. *Compare* CP 662-65 at ¶ 17 with CP 668-71 at ¶ 17.

The CR 2A Agreement favorably addresses Appellants' claim that they received less than fair market value for the subject property by tying Appellants' recovery directly to the property's sale price. If Petitioners had indeed underpaid for the property in 2014, and the property sells at a windfall, Appellants will receive the first \$350,000 of any such windfall. If the property does not sell at a windfall (suggesting that Petitioners did not underpay for it in 2014), Appellants will still have received the initial \$200,000 payment in compromise of their claims.

Appellants' counsel agreed to draft and circulate the long-form settlement agreement envisioned by the CR 2A Agreement. After the parties exchanged drafts for nearly two months, and appeared close to reaching a final agreement on the long-form agreement, Appellants' counsel circulated a redline draft of the agreement on June 3, 2018 that contained two significant deviations from the CR 2A Agreement that were <u>not</u> included in the CR 2A Agreement and did <u>not</u> reflect the agreement actually reached by the parties at mediation. CP 658, 673-701. Specifically, Appellants' draft described the post-sale payment of up to \$350,000 of the sale proceeds as an unconditional obligation, directly contradicting the CR 2A Agreement's description of such payment. CP 676-77. Appellants' draft also provided that Petitioners would personally guarantee that purported unconditional obligation. *Id*.

Petitioners immediately disputed Appellants' proposed revisions and explained in detail why they deviated from the terms of the CR 2A Agreement. CP 703-07. Despite having personally signed the CR 2A Agreement, Appellants effectively doubled down, claiming that there was "no meeting of the minds" at mediation and that the parties had not reached a binding agreement. CP 703.

Petitioners moved to enforce the CR 2A Agreement, which the trial court granted on September 28, 2018 after an evidentiary hearing. CP 644-

56, 1046-48. The trial court found that the parties entered into a "binding CR 2A settlement agreement" that "does not impose an unconditional obligation on [Petitioners] to pay [Appellants] \$350,000" and ordered Appellants to enter into a long-form settlement agreement consistent with the CR 2A Agreement no later than October 18, 2018. CP 1046-48. Appellants moved for reconsideration, which the trial court denied on October 31, 2018. CP 1051-64, 1341-45.

Appellants appealed to the Court of Appeals for Division I on November 1, 2018. CP 1346-48. Reviewing the trial court's decision *de novo*, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's finding that the CR 2A Agreement was binding and enforceable on two grounds. First, the Court of Appeals concluded that the February 22, 2018 CR 2A Agreement signed by all parties is an "unenforceable agreement to agree." Appendix A at 12. Second, the Court of Appeals found that the CR 2A Agreement is not enforceable because it leaves several terms open to future negotiation, in essence finding that those terms are material to any agreement between the parties. *See* Appendix A at 11-12. As a result, the Court of Appeals held

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Also, although the term sheet contains many specific provisions that are to be included in the final settlement agreement, it is silent on a number of important issues. The term sheet does not explicitly state which defendants would be responsible for the \$200,000 initial payment to Habu and Chinn or what would happen if the sale proceeds were insufficient to provide for the \$350,000 payment to Habu and Chinn. It also does not address the disposition of the property if it is not sold within two years of listing or whether the \$350,000 would still be owed."

that the trial court "erred in finding the term sheet to be a binding and enforceable settlement agreement and granting the motion to enforce the CR 2A term sheet." *Id*.

Petitioners timely moved for reconsideration on February 24, 2020.

After requesting responsive briefings from Appellants, the Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' motion for reconsideration on March 23, 2020.

Appendix B.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Disregards Prior Precedent of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and Review is Therefore Warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4 provides that the Court will accept discretionary review of a decision of the Court of Appeals terminating review if the decision "is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court" or if the decision "is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Here, the Court of Appeals' Decision reversing the trial court conflicts both with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and the Court should accept review to reverse the Decision on these bases.

CR 2A mandates that stipulations and agreements will be enforced when they are reduced to writing and signed by the party against whom they are to be enforced:

No agreement or consent between parties or attorneys in respect to the proceedings in a cause, the purport of which is disputed, will be regarded by the court unless the same shall have been made and assented to in open court on the record, or entered in the minutes, or unless the evidence thereof shall be in writing and subscribed by the attorneys denying the same.

CR 2A; *see also* RCW 2.44.010 (preexisting statute providing for enforcement of written stipulations among parties). Numerous decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals have applied the plain language of CR 2A to hold that agreements entered into pursuant to CR 2A are enforceable despite the fact that they either contemplated the subsequent execution of a more formal written agreement, or that they contained forward-looking agreements to negotiate additional terms.

i. The CR 2A Agreement is binding and enforceable notwithstanding the fact that it contemplates the subsequent execution of a more formal written agreement.

This Court has expressly held for more than 100 years that contracts like CR 2A agreements can be binding and enforceable despite the fact that they contemplate the subsequent execution of a more formal writing.<sup>2</sup> In the Court's 1913 decision in *Loewi v. Long*, for example, the Court upheld an informal contract for the sale of hops from the Yakima Valley that had

- 8 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Washington courts view CR 2A agreements as contracts and apply the summary judgment standard in determining whether a disputed agreement is enforceable. *In re Marriage of Ferree*, 71 Wn. App. 35, 39-40, 856 P.2d 706 (1993).

been formed by telegram despite the fact that the purchasing party's final correspondence indicated they would send a more formal contract—which was never signed—the following day. 76 Wash. 480, 483, 136 P. 673 (1913). This Court affirmed the trial court's ruling that a contract had been formed nonetheless, finding that a contract had been formed because the parties had reached an agreement upon all material terms:

If the subject matter is not in dispute, the terms are agreed upon, and the intention of the parties plain, then a contract exists between them by virtue of the informal writings, even though they may contemplate that a more formal contract shall be subsequently executed and delivered.

*Id.* at 484, 136 P. 673 (emphasis added).

Decisions of the Court of Appeals have also uniformly held that settlement agreements may be enforced, despite the fact that they contemplate the later execution of a more formal written agreement, so long as they set forth the parties' agreement on all material terms. In *Stottlemyre* v. Reed, for example, the plaintiffs in a personal injury action orally accepted a settlement offer from the defendant, but the parties did not reduce their agreement to writing. 35 Wn. App. 169, 171, 665 P.2d 1383 (1983). When the plaintiffs attempted to avoid the settlement, the trial court granted the defendant's motion to enforce the oral agreement. *Id.* Division III of the Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that the agreement's terms were clear and were enforceable despite the parties' contemplation of a subsequent,

#### formal written agreement:

If the intention of the parties is plain and the terms of a contract are agreed upon, then a contract exists, even though one or both of the parties may have contemplated later execution of a writing. Here the intent of the parties and the terms of the oral settlement agreement were clear. There is no evidence this oral agreement was specifically conditioned on the execution of various written documents. We hold under these facts the court did not err by enforcing the oral agreement between the parties.

*Id.* at 171-72, 665 P.2d 1383 (emphasis added, internal citation omitted). The Court of Appeals went on to note that "strict compliance" with the predecessor statute to CR 2A, RCW 2.44.010, was not required and that enforcing the agreement was consistent with the public policy of fostering settlements. *Id.* at 173, 665 P.2d 1383 ("[T]he law favors the private settlement of disputes and is inclined to view them with finality." (citation omitted)).

Similarly, in *Morris v. Maks*, Division I of the Court of Appeals upheld an informal settlement effectuated by letters exchanged among counsel despite the fact that the final correspondence from the defendant's attorney contained several additional "clarifying or supplemental points" that the plaintiff argued conflicted with the plaintiff's final correspondence. 69 Wn. App. 865, 867-68, 850 P.2d 1357 (1993). The Court of Appeals rejected the argument that the settlement was not binding, noting that "the fact that the parties contemplated drafting a formal settlement agreement

does not necessarily mean that they intended to be bound only upon execution of that document" and finding that the settlement was binding because "(1) the subject matter was agreement on, (2) the material terms were stated in the letters, and (3) the evidence supports the finding that the parties intended to be bound by the letters." *Id.* at 871-72, 850 P.2d 1357. The only contrary decisions cited by Appellants below all involved oral agreements or purported settlements that did not include express agreement on all material terms.<sup>3</sup>

The Court of Appeals misapplied this precedent and erred in concluding that the CR 2A Agreement was not enforceable because it contemplated the subsequent execution of a more formal, long-form settlement agreement. The CR 2A Agreement expressly sets forth, in mandatory terms, <u>all</u> of the material obligations to which the parties agreed, including (1) the amount of Petitioners' settlement payment; (2) the timing and nature of Appellants' dismissal of their underlying claims against Petitioners; (3) the terms of the parties' mutual releases; and (4) detailed

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., Bryant v. Palmer Coking Coal Co., 67 Wn. App. 176, 179, 858 P.2d 1110 (1993) (refusing to enforce oral settlement agreement where material terms were in dispute and agreement was not signed by all parties); Veith v. Xterra Wetsuits, L.L.C., 144 Wn. App. 362, 364, 183 P.3d 334 (2008) (no settlement agreement existed where only one party had verbally expressed acceptance; since acceptance was not mutual, acceptance was not valid); Eddleman v. McGhan, 45 Wn.2d 430, 432, 275 P.2d 729 (1954) (finding genuine dispute over settlement agreement's formation where the parties had not returned final draft of agreement and it was not signed by the bound party).

provisions governing the sale of the subject property and the distributions of the receipts therefrom. *See* CP 662-65.<sup>4</sup> The CR 2A Agreement is thus binding and enforceable despite the fact that it contemplated the execution of a more formal agreement, and the Court should accept review to reverse the Court of Appeals' Decision on this basis.

## ii. The CR 2A Agreement is binding and enforceable notwithstanding the fact that it contains agreements to negotiate certain additional terms.

With regard to the "additional terms" set forth in the CR 2A Agreement, this Court has expressly held that contracts may be binding despite the fact that they contain agreements to negotiate additional terms in the future based on subsequent negotiation between the parties.

The authoritative Washington decision on this issue is the Court's 2004 opinion in *Keystone Land & Development Company v. Xerox Corporation*, 152 Wn.2d 171, 94 P.3d 945 (2004). *Keystone* came before the Court on a straightforward certified question from the Ninth Circuit: Whether a contract that includes an agreement to negotiate future terms is enforceable under Washington law.<sup>5</sup> The Court began its analysis by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals appears to have recognized these facts, yet somehow reached a conclusion that does not follow from this premise. *See* Appendix A at 3 ("The term sheet listed the following provisions that the settlement agreement 'shall contain.'").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The specific question certified by the Ninth Circuit in *Keystone* was "Will Washington contract law recognize and enforce an agreement, whether implicit or

identifying three types of forward-looking agreements: (1) agreements to agree, which are "agreement[s] to do something which requires a further meeting of the minds of the parties and without which it would not be complete" and which are unenforceable under Washington law; (2) agreements with open terms, which exist where "the parties intend to be bound by the key points agreed upon with the remaining terms supplied by a court or another authoritative source, such as the Uniform Commercial Code"; and (3) contracts to negotiate, which exist where "the parties exchange promises to conform to a specific course of conduct during negotiations, such as negotiating in good faith, exclusively with each other, or for a specific period of time." *Id.* at 175-77, 94 P.3d 945 (citation omitted).

The specific circumstances implicated in *Keystone* involved the third type of forward-looking agreement—a contract to negotiate. While the Court held that no such agreement was formed under the facts of that case, the Court held that contracts to negotiate <u>are</u> enforceable where they set forth one of the specific courses of conduct identified above. *See id.* at

explicit, between two or more parties to negotiate a future contract under the circumstances presented in this case?" *Id.* at 173-74, 94 P.3d 945. The Ninth Circuit also certified a second question, relating to the measure of damages for breach of such an agreement, which is not implicated by the present appeal. *See id.* at 174, 94 P.3d 945 ("If such a contract can exist, what is the proper measure of damages for the breach of a contract to negotiate.").

179, 94 P.3d 945 (finding no contract to negotiate on the ground that "[t]he parties did not exchange promises to conform to a specific course of conduct during negotiations, such as negotiating in good faith, exclusively with each other, or for a specific period of time").

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