FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/11/2020 12:36 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98450-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNIFER L. HABU and RICHARD Y. CHINN, husband and wife,

Respondents,

v.

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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Division I's opinion applied this Court's well-established principles in determining that the trial court erred in forcing Habu/Chinn to execute a final settlement agreement. The burden was on the CHJ petitioners to establish the existence of an enforceable contract. *Retail Clerks Health & Welfare Tr. Funds v. Shopland Supermarket, Inc.*, 96 Wn.2d 939, 944, 640 P.2d 1051 (1982). They, not Habu/Chinn, brought the motion in the trial court asking for specific performance of the term sheet. CP 644-55.⁴ Because the CHJ petitioners sought specific performance, their burden was even higher.⁵ They failed to meet their burden of proving an enforceable settlement agreement existed. Op. at 8-12.

⁴ The CHJ petitioners did not merely request an order requiring Habu/Chinn to *negotiate*, rather, they asked the trial court to force Habu/Chinn to *execute* a final settlement. *See* CP 646 ("[T]he Court should enter an order requiring Plaintiffs to execute a long-form settlement agreement"). They argued it was enforceable as a matter of law. Consistent with CHJ's request for relief, the trial court ordered Habu/Chinn not merely to negotiate, but to "*enter into* a long-form settlement agreement ... by October 18, 2018." CP 1048 (emphasis added).

⁵ In order for specific performance to be ordered, a court must be able to determine with reasonable certainty the duties of the parties and the conditions under which performance is due; the court can have no reasonable doubt of what is to be accomplished. *Haire v. Patterson*, 63 Wn.2d 282, 287, 386 P.2d 953 (1963). The CHJ petitioners had to produce "clear and unequivocal evidence that leaves no doubt as to the terms, character, and existence of the contract." *Kruse v. Hemp*, 121 Wn.2d 715, 722, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993) (quotation omitted).

- (1) <u>Division I's Opinion Is Consistent With This Court's</u> <u>Decisions on CR 2A Agreements and Contract Formation</u>⁶
 - (a) <u>Division I Correctly Ruled that the Parties Failed to Agree on All Material Terms</u>

Settlement agreements are contracts. Op. at 8 ("The common law of contracts applies to settlement agreements." Division I relied upon this Court's key decision in *Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 161, 298 P.3d 86 (2013)), a case the CHJ petitioners *nowhere* cite. There, this Court reaffirmed that Washington's "objective manifestation of assent theory of contracts" applies to settlement agreements, and the parties' intent is "paramount in settlements." *Id*.

To have an enforceable contract, there must be a "meeting of the minds" on all material contract terms. *Gaskill v. City of Mercer Island*, 19 Wn. App. 307, 308, 576 P.2d 1318, *review denied*, 90 Wn.2d 1015 (1978). In other words, a valid contract requires mutual assent to the essential terms. *Evans & Son, Inc. v. City of Yakima*, 136 Wn. App. 471, 477, 149 P.3d 691 (2006). Indeed, the CHJ petitioners had to show "clear and unequivocal evidence that leaves no doubt as to the terms, character, and existence of the contract." *Kruse*, 121 Wn.2d at 722 (quotation omitted). An agreement is unenforceable under CR 2A if a genuine dispute exists over the agreement's

⁶ A motion to enforce a settlement agreement is treated like a summary judgment motion. *Lavigne v. Green*, 106 Wn. App. 12, 16, 23 P.3d 515 (2001).

existence and material terms; the CHJ petitioners had the burden of proving that there is no genuine dispute regarding the existence and material terms of a settlement agreement. *Condon*, 177 Wn.2d at 162; *In re Marriage of Ferree*, 71 Wn. App. 35, 41, 856 P.2d 706 (1993).

Consistent with that principle, this Court has also repeatedly held that agreements to agree are unenforceable. *Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v. Xerox Corp.*, 152 Wn.2d 171, 180, 94 P.3d 945 (2004), *cert. denied*, 544 U.S. 905 (2005); *Sandeman v. Sayres*, 50 Wn.2d 539, 314 P.2d 428 (1957) (the Court declined to enforce a written employment contract's provision for payment of a bonus or commission to the employee, because the provision contemplated future negotiations); *Haire*, *supra* (this Court declined to order specific performance of a written earnest-money agreement, even though purchase and sale agreements were standardized). There was no meeting of the minds on all material terms of the alleged settlement because key future terms remained to be negotiated. This was, at best, an agreement to agree.

The CHJ petitioners rely on two cases in their petition at 9-11 that actually support Habu/Chinn's position, not theirs: *Stottlemyre v. Reed*, 35 Wn. App. 169, 171, 665 P.2d 1383, *review denied*, 100 Wn.2d 1015 (1983) and *Morris v. Maks*, 69 Wn. App. 865, 850 P.2d 1357, *review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1020 (1993). In *Stottlemyre*, the court applied the same rule

advanced by Habu/Chinn here: a "contract exists" where "the intention of the parties is plain and the terms of a contract are agreed upon." 35 Wn. App. at 171 (emphasis added). Unlike here, however, the parties there did not dispute whether they had agreed to all the essential and material terms of a settlement agreement. Instead, the sole issue was whether their oral agreement had to be memorialized in a formal writing. *Id.* at 171-72. The *Stottlemyre* court *nowhere* said that trial courts may order parties to negotiate a final agreement based on an incomplete and indefinite tentative agreement. That case confirms that all material terms must be clear and agreed.

Morris is similar. There, the parties exchanged letters memorializing an oral settlement agreement. Although the parties expected to negotiate a detailed final agreement, their letters set out all the material terms of their agreement, including liabilities and potential termination of a lease agreement. 69 Wn. App. at 869-70. The Morris court did not hold that trial courts may impose a final settlement agreement on parties whose preliminary agreement was incomplete or indefinite. Rather, the court applied the rule that an agreement may be enforced only *if* it includes all the material and essential terms. See id. at 872.

The term sheet here *repeatedly* left material terms for future negotiations. CP 662-64. If an agreement requires more negotiations for

"a further meeting of the minds," it is fatally incomplete. Sandeman, 50 Wn.2d at 541-42. In Term 3, the parties agreed themselves to use "best efforts" to enter a final agreement. CP 662. Then, in Term 23 the parties agreed "to make a good faith effort to mediate and resolve those disagreements or disputes" that might arise. CP 664. The parties intended to have more negotiations. Other terms reinforce this reading. Terms 4 and 5 refer to the duties which the final settlement agreement "shall" and "will" define. CP 662. Then, in Terms 6, 7, and 8, the term sheet provides for parties to complete certain duties only after the parties negotiate a final settlement agreement. *Id.* The term sheet shows the intent to be bound to a settlement agreement drafted *in the future*, not to a *present* intention to be bound.

As Division I correctly determined, op. at 11-12, the material terms that were left unresolved were *extensive* and defeated the CHJ petitioners' contention that the term sheet was an enforceable contract. That is fully consistent with this Court's teachings. *Plumbing Shop, Inc. v. Pitts*, 67 Wn.2d 514, 521, 408 P.2d 382, 386 (1965) ("If the preliminary agreement is incomplete, it being apparent that the determination of certain details is deferred until the writing is made out ... the preliminary negotiations and agreements do not constitute a contract." (quotation omitted)). In challenging Division I's conclusion, the petitioners do not argue that

Division I applied the wrong legal standard or changed, modified, or clarified the law. Indeed, the petitioners admit that Division I "recognized that *Keystone* was binding authority regarding the enforceability of forward-looking contracts in Washington," and they acknowledged that *Keystone* is "[t]he authoritative Washington decision on this issue." Pet. at 12, 14. The CHJ petitioners' only real complaint is that Division I's *application* of the law to this case's *particular facts* was in error—a far cry from a proper basis for this Court to accept review. Of course, the petitioners repeatedly insist that the term sheet was complete and included all material terms, pet. at 1, 11, 14, but their petition fails to show that Division I's difference of opinion on the term sheet's completeness was not sustainable under Washington law. Division I disagreed with the CHJ petitioners' factual premise as to the completeness of the terms, op. at 11-12, but this is not a basis for this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b).

As Division I correctly recognized, moreover, the term sheet conditioned most of the parties' obligations on the parties reaching a final settlement agreement, something that had not occurred. CP 662. Given the term sheet's language, Division I concluded that "[a]ll of the timelines within which the parties must act run from the effective date of the final settlement agreement." Op. at 12. These conditional obligations included (1) the preparation of an environmental report on the property, (2) an

appraisal, (3) the exchange of names for and agreement on a listing broker, and (4) payments to Habu/Chinn totaling \$200,000. CP 662. Given these extensive obligations, Division I's application of this Court's precedent was sustainable. *Plumbing Shop, Inc.*, 67 Wn.2d at 521 ("[I]f an intention is manifested in any way that legal obligations between the parties shall be deferred until the writing is made, the preliminary negotiations and agreements do not constitute a contract." (quotation omitted)).

Finally, as noted *supra*, the CHJ petitioners themselves did not act as though there was a mutual meeting of the minds on all material terms such that a final, binding settlement contract was formed. Their conduct after the negotiation of the term sheet *belied* any such relief. This Court may look to the "subsequent conduct of the contracting parties" when determining "the parties' intent." *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 668, 801 P.2d 222 (1990). The CHJ petitioners acted in contravention of the term sheet. CP 1108-30.

Division I correctly applied this Court's clear rule forbidding enforcement of "agreements" that leave too many vital issues for resolution.⁷ Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

⁷ The petitioners see a contradiction in Division I's opinion. Pet. at 14-15. But Division I did *not* "expressly f[ind] that the CR 2A Agreement's forward-looking terms were contracts to negotiate." Pet. at 14. Instead, Division I simply said that the term sheet "arguably" was such a contract. Op. at 10. But even if the term sheet were such a contract

Answer to Petition for Review - 12

-

(b) <u>The Alleged Settlement's Terms Were Too</u> Indefinite to Enforce

Alluded to by Division I, op. at 11-12, an additional reason sustaining Division I's disposition of the case is that the term sheet's material terms were also woefully indefinite, further demonstrating the lack of an objective intention to be bound to the term sheet rather than a future settlement agreement. *See Keystone*, 152 Wn.2d at 178 ("[T]he terms assented to must be sufficiently definite."). The CHJ petitioners *admitted* as much in their motion to enforce below, where they described the term sheet as "the general structure that a settlement ... would take," with the parties agreeing "to hash out the specific terms of the ultimate settlement." CP 645. For example, the parties had a fundamental disagreement about the financial terms. The term sheet did not address what happens if the property is not sold or the sale proceeds are insufficient to cover the loan balance plus the \$350,000 portion of the settlement sum. Nor was there language making sufficient sale proceeds a condition precedent to the

_

to negotiate, Division I recognized it would not make a difference to its reversal of the trial court, because a "contract to negotiate is not breached by failure to agree on substantive provisions." Op. at 10 (citing *Keystone*, 152 Wn.2d at 176). Here, the petitioners' motion in the trial court asked for an order forcing Habu/Chinn to negotiate and to then enter final agreement, and the trial court granted that request. CP 646, 1048. But Habu/Chinn had already negotiated exhaustively, and the petitioners would have no right under the term sheet, even if it were a contract to negotiate, to a final enforceable contract. *See Keystone*, 152 Wn.2d at 176 "[N]o breach occurs if the parties fail to reach agreement on the substantive deal."); *id.* at 180 ("We decline to create and impose a duty to go forward in the absence of an enforceable contract.").

\$350,000 payment obligation, as the CHJ petitioners have contended.

The term sheet apparently was so indefinite that the CHJ petitioners even believed that they could change it during the court-ordered negotiations. CP 1061, 1067-68, 1081. They claimed that Term 18 created an expiration date for their payment obligation, meaning that they would not have to pay the \$350,000 at all if the property did not sell within 24 months. CP 1144.

But the CHJ petitioners had never proffered that interpretation before—not during post-mediation negotiations, nor in their motion to enforce the settlement. CP 1068. As conceded by the CHJ petitioners during oral argument before Division I,⁸ Term 18 simply does not say that and there is no temporal limitation on payment in any other provision of the term sheet. CP 663, 1081. Were it otherwise, CHJ Properties could "slow play" the sale and avoid all its responsibilities under a final settlement agreement. When the petitioners proposed a final settlement agreement that reflected this two-year expiration date, CP 1140, 1144, they were making a counteroffer. *City of Roslyn v. Paul E. Hughes Constr. Co., Inc.*, 19 Wn. App. 59, 63, 573 P.2d 385, *review denied*, 90 Wn.2d 1012 (1978). If the

 8 The audio recording of the oral argument may be accessed at https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/OralArgAudio/a01/20200107/5.%20Habu%20v.%20 Topacio%20%20%20791524.mp3. This concession was in minutes 15:21-16:10 of the audio recording.

term sheet was so indefinite that it was subject to this significant change, it was never enforceable.

Simply put, there was also no agreement on the meaning of Term 17. The trial court erroneously believed a sale of the property was a condition precedent to Habu/Chinn being paid the full settlement proceeds of \$550,000. Rather, the sale was merely a date for the performance of the CHJ petitioners' payment obligation, as this Court clearly held 62 years ago in *Noord v. Downs*, 51 Wn.2d 611, 320 P.2d 632 (1958).

Critically, at least some of the CHJ petitioners *admitted* that there was no mutual assent to this condition, conceding in the trial court that they would agree to the meaning ascribed to the term sheet by Habu/Chinn if that is what the trial court concluded the term sheet intended. CP 1009, 1013; RP 70. Green Sky/Jordan also conceded that Habu/Chinn's understanding of Term 17 was correct; in their joinder to the motion to enforce, the petitioners confirmed that section 3.1.2 of Habu and Chinn's draft formal settlement agreement "mirrored the [Term 17] language" but "albeit in a bit more detail." CP 722.

Thus, the parties attached different meanings to the \$350,000 payment obligation with different interpretations by Habu/Chinn, the CHJ petitioners, and even the trial court. CR 2A bars enforcement of an alleged settlement agreement if it is genuinely disputed. *Ferree*, *supra*.

In sum, far from documenting a basis for review of Division I's unpublished opinion, the CHJ petitioners only demonstrate that Division I's careful opinion on contract formation was sound, and consistent with this Court's decisions. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

(2) <u>Division I's Unpublished Opinion Does Not Implicate</u> <u>Significant Issues of Public Importance Meriting Review</u> <u>under RAP 13.4(b)(4)</u>

The CHJ petitioners claim that review is merited because Division I's unpublished decision will somehow undermine our state's policy favoring settlements. Pet. at 15-17. They are wrong. There is a simple, practical solution for parties who want to express a present intention to be bound to agreements at the close of mediation: say so *expressly* in a CR 2A agreement. If parties have a present intention to be bound to their mediation memorandum of agreement, even if they cannot agree on a final long-form settlement agreement, they can simply express that intention in the CR 2A agreement. Their agreement can also expressly state that it contains all material terms of their agreement, leaving for the long-form agreement only minor matters that would not affect the enforceability of the settlement contract. No such language appears in the term sheet here. CP 662-65.

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